Learning Sciences PhD Program Student Handbook



Northwestern University reserves the right to change without notice any statement in this publication concerning, but not limited to, rules, policies, curricula, and courses.

Contents

- 1. Introduction, p2
- 2. Courses, p3
 - 2.1. Course Requirements
 - 2.2. Grading Policy
- 3. The First Year: Begin Research and Find an Advisor, p5
 - 3.1. The first Year Advisor
 - 3.2. Exploring Research Options
 - 3.3. Selecting a Permanent Advisor

4. Intermediate Milestones, p7

- 4.1. Written Qualifying Exam
- 4.2. Second Year Research Presentation and Paper
- 4.3. Dissertation Proposal and Proposal Defense

5. Endgame: PhD Dissertation and Defense, p12

- 5.1. The Pre-Defense
- 5.2. Scheduling and Preparation
- 5.3. Public Presentation
- 5.4. Private Discussion
- 5.5. Outcome
- 5.6. Submission of the Dissertation

6. Financial Support, p14

- 6.1. University Fellowships
- 6.2. Research Assistantships
- 6.3. Teaching Assistantships
- 6.4. Other Fellowships
- Additional Requirements, p16
 - 7.1. Participation in Community Activities
 - 7.2. Teaching

7.

- 7.3. Annual Performance Review
- 7.4. LS Policy on Residency at Northwestern
- 7.5. Academic Integrity

1. Introduction

This handbook has been created to give students information regarding the policies, expectations, and conventions of the Learning Sciences Program. It is designed to supplement and clarify information provided on The Graduate School website. Every student is responsible for reviewing the general policies for the PhD degree on The Graduate School website and the specific policies of the Learning Sciences PhD Program in this handbook.

Every effort has been made to make this handbook as complete, clear, and accurate as possible. If you have any questions about the contents of this handbook or The Graduate School website, you should address them to the Program Coordinator your Graduate School Student Representative.

2. Courses

Courses are an important part of the education of a PhD student. Students are expected to take courses during the first three years of their graduate career. Every student is required to take courses that fulfill specific requirements for breadth and depth in the three strands of the Learning Sciences (cognition, sociocultural context, and design), and in research methods. Students are also expected to take coursework and continue reading beyond these specific requirements. In particular, students should take coursework that is directly relevant to their research.

2.1 Course Requirements

The following are the course requirements for LS PhD students. Substitutions may be made, and specific requirements may be waived by permission of the Program Coordinator and the student's advisor.

Foundations

LRN_SCI 403: Foundations of the Learning Sciences

Cognition

LRN_SCI 401: Knowledge Representation for the Learning Sciences

Sociocultural Context

LRN_SCI 402: Social Dimensions of Teaching and Learning

Design

LRN_SCI 425: Introduction to Design for the Learning Sciences

And TWO of the following:

LRN_SCI 426: Design of Technological Tools for Thinking and Learning

LRN_SCI 429: Design of Learning Environments

EECS 472: Designing and Constructing Models With Multi-Agent Languages

Other appropriate courses may be used to satisfy this requirement by approval of the student's advisor and the Program Coordinator.

Methods

LRN_SCI 404: Methods and Epistemologies for the Study of Learning 1

LRN_SCI 405: Methods and Epistemologies for the Study of Learning 2

And THREE of the following:

- LRN_SCI 410: Quantitative Methods 1
- LRN_SCI 411: Quantitative Methods 2

- LRN_SCI 415: Field Methods (Qualitative Methods 1)
- LRN_SCI 416: Advanced Qualitative Methods (Qualitative Methods 2)

Special topics methods courses (400-level) in Learning Sciences may also be used to satisfy methods course requirements. These include:

- Interaction Analysis
- Discourse Analysis
- Computational Methods (e.g. Designing and Constructing Models With Multi-Agent Languages)
- Multimodal Learning Analytics.

Students may take the quantitative courses PSYCH_450, PSYCH_451, and PSYCH_453, in that sequence as a substitute for LRN_SCI 410, LRN_SCI 411. Other quantitative stats sequences in other departments may satisfy the quantitative requirement but need to be cleared with the Program Coordinator.

Seminars

Four seminars are required across years 2 and 3. Any non-required LS course and any graduate-level course in other departments can be used to fulfill the seminar requirement.

2.2 Course Requirements (Students Entering fall 2004 to fall 2020)

The following are the course requirements for LS students entering in the fall of 2004 to fall 2020 or later. Note: Students have the option to follow the new requirements noted in section 2.1. Substitutions may be made, and specific requirements may be waived by permission of the Program Coordinator and the student's advisor.

Foundations

LRN_SCI 403: Foundations of the Learning Sciences

Cognition

LRN_SCI 401: Knowledge Representation for the Learning Sciences

Sociocultural Context

LRN_SCI 402: Social Dimensions of Teaching and Learning

Design

LRN_SCI 425: Introduction to Design for the Learning Sciences

And TWO of the following:

LRN_SCI 426: Design of Technological Tools for Thinking and Learning

LRN_SCI 429: Design of Learning Environments

EECS 430: Design of Interactive Learning Environments

EECS 472: Designing and Constructing Models With Multi-Agent Languages

Other appropriate courses may be used to satisfy this requirement by approval of the student's advisor and the Program Coordinator.

Methods

Field Methods (Qualitative Methods 1) and Advanced Qualitative Methods (Qualitative Methods 2). These courses are now designated as LRN_SCI 415 and 416.

Quantitative Methods 1 and 2, in that sequence, as offered in SESP. These are now designated as LRN_SCI 410 and 411. Alternatively, students may take the quantitative courses PSYCH_450, PSYCH_451, and PSYCH_453, in that sequence. Other quantitative stats sequences in other departments may satisfy the quantitative requirement, but need to be cleared with the Program Coordinator.

Seminars and other non-required courses

Five seminars are required across years 2 and 3. Any non-required LS course and any graduate-level course in other departments can be used to fulfill the seminar requirement.

2.3 Grading Policy

Grades are one of the ways that faculty provide feedback to students about the quality of their work and their progress toward a PhD. Therefore, it is important that students understand the standards of grading in the LS Program.

The Learning Sciences faculty has adopted the following scale for grading in graduate courses:

A Excellent

A-Very

good B+

Good

B Acceptable

B- Barely acceptable

C Poor

F Fail (no credit)

It is expected that PhD students will produce work at the B+ level or higher. Students who receive more than the occasional grade of B or lower should be aware that they are not performing at the level that the faculty expects of PhD students.

3. The First Year: Begin Research and Find an Advisor

Research is an essential element of the Learning Sciences doctoral program. The primary goal of the program is to prepare students to be independent researchers in the Learning Sciences. There are a variety of ways in which students learn to conduct research, including formal coursework in research methods. However, the most important way in which students learn to conduct research is through mentored participation in research. We often refer to this training as "research apprenticeship." Thus, your life as a researcher is closely linked to your choice of an advisor.

Students are encouraged to begin to participate in research activities as early as possible in their graduate career. In the early stages, students may simply attend research meetings. Then, they may take responsibility for research activities under close supervision, gradually taking on more responsibility and more autonomy, until they are prepared to conduct independent research. Since students enter the Learning Sciences Program with very different levels of preparation for conducting research, there is no single path. Students should develop an individual plan for engaging in research in consultation with their advisor(s).

3.1 The First Year Advisor

Entering students are assigned, as determined by the Program Coordinator, a first year faculty advisor. This advisor may not be specifically investigating topics that a student is directly interested in – rather, the assigned advisor's purpose is intended to assist in introducing the student to the broader LS community. The role of this first year advisor is to provide the student with general advice about classes, curricular decisions, research brainstorming, and other aspects of the LS and Northwestern community. The assignment of a first year advisor does not represent a commitment beyond the first year by either the student or the faculty member. Thus, this should not preclude students from looking for a more permanent advisor whose research interests him or her. Oftentimes, the student discusses with their first year advisor is merely to provide helpful advice to students as they begin their graduate career. (Note: Students enter the program with varied expectations as to whom they wish to work with. The assignment of the first year advisor is intended to help integrate students into the community, and is not intended to obviate students' preferences for who they might select as a more permanent advisor as early as they wish in their first year.)

3.2 Exploring Research Options

Students are required to begin participating in research in the winter quarter of their first year. To fulfill this requirement, students must minimally attend weekly meetings of one or more research groups or meet with a faculty member on a regular basis to discuss research. It is expected that the amount of research activities and the level of responsibility will increase steadily over time. This requirement applies regardless of whether a student is registered for an independent project during the quarter. A first year student who is not registered for an independent study may fulfill the research requirement simply by attending the meetings of a research group. (But to be clear, a student's goals should not solely be to attend meetings but rather to begin developing, implementing, and conducting research.) A student who is registered for an independent study may fulfill study might engage in 10-15 hours of research activities including data collection or data analysis a week.

3.3 Selecting a Permanent Advisor

A PhD advisor plays a very important role in a graduate student's life and career. The PhD

advisor supervises the student's research, provides guidance on academic and career issues, and serves as the chair of the student's dissertation committee. Because the advisor plays such a critical role, it is important to find the best possible match for both research interests and personality.

By the beginning of the summer following the first year, a student should select a permanent advisor. (In some cases, a student may be co-advised by two faculty members or a student may continue to have more than one advisor into the second year.) The annual performance review form for the first year requires a student to identify an advisor and obtain the advisor's signature.

A faculty member becomes a student's advisor by mutual agreement. A faculty member is not obligated to advise any particular student nor to continue advising a student if the advisor is not satisfied with the quality of the student's work. Before selecting an advisor, a student should have a clear idea from the faculty member what he or she expects of the student, how the advisor expects the student to be funded, and how they will work together (e.g., how often they will meet and in what settings). In the case of students whose advisor will be supporting them with a research assistantship, the student and advisor should have a clear understanding of what the student will be expected to do for the research assistantship and the relationship between that work and their dissertation research.

It is not uncommon for students to switch advisors during their second year. There are many valid reasons for changing advisors, so students should be aware that they have the option to do so. However, changing an advisor is likely to slow a student's progress toward a degree and has practical implications. If a student has made commitments to complete work with or for an advisor, the student should make every reasonable attempt to fulfill that commitment as part of the plan for switching advisors. A student who is considering changing his or her advisor should consult with the Program Coordinator to develop a plan for making the change and to make sure the student understands the implications of the change. If the Program Coordinator is directly involved, the student should consult with the Dean or another tenured faculty member.

4. Intermediate Milestones

Admission to candidacy is an important milestone on the road to a PhD in the Learning Sciences Program. Admission to candidacy occurs after a student has completed several requirements:

Step 1: Qualifying

- Guided Literature Review (GLR)
- Second year paper and research presentation
- Qualifying Exam form in GSTS

Step 2: Admission to Candidacy

- The Graduate School and Learning Sciences course requirements
- Dissertation proposal and defense
- Prospectus Form in GSTS

In the Learning Sciences program there are two intermediate milestones. The first is called qualifying, which is ordinarily completed prior to the beginning of the third year. Qualifying is based on an evaluation of the students' work in the first two years, including coursework, the second year research presentation and paper, the written qualifying exam, and participation in research activities. At the completion of the qualifying process, students whose work meets the standards of the Learning Sciences faculty are invited to continue into the third year. Two important considerations in this evaluation are: (1) Has the student demonstrated the breadth and depth of understanding of Learning Sciences theory, methods, and empirical literature necessary to be a successful researcher in the Learning Sciences? (2) Has the student demonstrated the ability to conduct research of sufficient quality to complete a dissertation within a reasonable period of time with a reasonable level of faculty supervision?

The second intermediate milestone involves the completion of the residency requirement, all coursework requirements, and the dissertation proposal. Ordinarily students complete these requirements during the third or fourth year.

4.1 Written Qualifying Exam: Guided Literature Review

Guided Literature Review

In addition to required coursework and the second year presentation and paper, students must also pass the Guided Literature Review to complete their qualifying exam requirement and advance to Ph.D. candidacy.

Guided Literature Review Summary

To pass the Guided Literature Review, the student must write a paper that demonstrates: a) a mastery of the literature across the Learning Sciences; b) the ability to synthesize and critique a literature; c) the ability to craft an argument drawing on extant literature; and d) an ability to put multiple epistemological, theoretical, and/or methodological perspectives in conversation with one another. The steps to completing the Guided Literature Review are:

- Select a topic relevant to the Learning Sciences. Research topics should be narrow enough to synthesize a set of relevant literature in 30 pages, but broad enough to bring together different methodological and disciplinary perspectives. The initial statement of the topic is due to the LS coordinator on November 1. That statement should consist of a title along with a one paragraph description of the topic. Example topics are given below. The topic must be approved by the LS Coordinator, who may consult with the larger faculty before making a final decision.
- Propose a review panel of three LS faculty. One panel member should be the student's primary advisor. The other two panel members should be selected to provide breadth of expertise to the panel that spans the three strands. The proposed panel should be submitted to the LS Coordinator by **December 1**. The panel must be approved by the LS Coordinator, who may consult with the full faculty before making final decisions.
- 3. Submit a proposed reference list for panel approval by the first day of winter quarter. The reading list should address a broad range of literature and allow for a critical analysis of the topic. We anticipate the reading list will contain approximately 40 citations, although this figure may vary depending on the topic and the committee. Students will be provided a reading list with journal articles and book chapters that the LS faculty recommend for students to consider in their paper. The reading list is updated every year and serves as a resource for students and their panel of three readers. Students are not required to select a set number of readings from this list, but will work with their advisor and the panel to select papers from the list and beyond in their thematic areas. Each panel will have the independent responsibility of approving the proposed reference list of the paper.
- 4. Write and submit the paper. The essay should be approximately 25-30 pages long (excluding references), double-spaced, with 12 point font and one inch margins. It is permitted for students to seek help from faculty and peers. Here our model follows that of the second-year papers, proposals, and dissertations. In all those cases, it is understood that the product is primarily the work of the student author, even if substantial help and guidance is provided. As a check on the process, we also require that each student submit an approximately one-page statement describing the support and input they received. A polished draft of the paper is due three weeks before the end of Spring quarter. Students will receive feedback from their panel within one week of submitting this draft. Then, the final paper is due one week following the end of Spring quarter exam week. Additional guidelines for the writing of the paper are given below.
- 5. The final paper is evaluated. The panel then evaluates the final paper. (The one submitted one week following the end of Spring quarter.) If the paper is not passing as it stands, the panel members have two options. (1) They can ask for targeted revisions. (2) They can simply fail the paper, if they feel it cannot be amended within the two weeks allowed for revisions. The panel must return this evaluation no later than two weeks following the deadline for the submission of the final paper.

- 6. Student responds to panel evaluation. If the committee requests revisions, then these are due two weeks following the request. If the panel members deem that the paper is not passing, the student has the option to continue with the qualifying process, through the completion of the second-year paper and presentation. Following the presentation, the faculty will then make a decision with the student's full record in mind.
- 7. Evaluation of the revised paper (if applicable). The panel must review and make a decision on the revised paper no later than one week following its submission. Again, if the panel members deem that the paper is not passing, the student has the option to continue with the qualifying process, through the completion of the second-year paper and presentation. No further revisions are allowed.

Summary timeline

November 1	Topics due
December 1	Proposed Panel due
First day of Winter quarter	Proposed reference list due
Three weeks before end of Spring quarter	Polished draft due to panel
One week following end of Spring quarter	Final paper due
Three weeks following end of Spring quarter	Panel evaluation of final paper due
Five weeks following end of Spring quarter	Revised paper due (if applicable)
Six weeks following end of Spring quarter	Panel evaluation of revised paper due (if
applicable).	

Sample topics

Conceptual change in science learning. My paper will examine literature relevant to this question: What happens when student prior knowledge comes into contact with the science presented in the classroom? I will explore traditional cognitive views of conceptual change in science, including research from psychology and education research. A particular emphasis will be placed on how the differing cultural backgrounds of learners impacts the processes of conceptual change.

Methods of design-based research. My paper will examine potential methods by which design-based researchers iterate effectively while taking into account learner and stakeholder concerns. I will explore how different methods allow (or don't allow) learning scientists to iteratively develop socio-cultural, cognitive, and design models in order to develop new theories and practical products.

Gender and technology. University engineering departments play an important role in encouraging gender diversity in STEM fields such as computer science, and recent approaches have shown that departments can increase enrollment of women from single digits to near parity. This literature review analyzes work on gender equity in technology from a learning sciences lens, examining how social and cognitive factors promote and inhibit participation in technology disciplines.

STEAM learning in out-of-school contexts. Foundational and modern theories of learning sciences have proposed that education institutions should connect desired learning

outcomes to learners experiences outside school. Out-of-school contexts provide an exciting opportunity to develop learner's individual interests and connect them both to in-school learning and out-of school experience. In this literature review I will survey recent approaches to STEAM learning in out-of-school contexts, paying particular attention to how these environments build on learners existing knowledge and social practices.

Collaborative learning for collective action. My paper will ask: How might we design online communities that allow peer groups to plan and implement solutions to collective action problems. Online collective action platforms raise interesting learning challenges because peers must both learn through the process of collaborative problem solving, group regulate processes, and also model their peers perspectives to choose a course of action that the group as a whole will support. This review will draw widely from socio-cultural models of participatory decision making, cognitive theories of socially-shared regulation of learning, design of online learning communities, and organizational theories of collective action.

Making sense of extended historical texts. Understanding historical texts requires integrating information from multiple historical sources and judging credibility of each source, a task perhaps complicated by the rise of the internet and the rise in popularity in the genre of historical fiction amongst millennials. This literature review will ask what cognitive and sociocultural influence learners ability to make sense of historical texts, and how design of tests creates challenges and opportunities for educators teaching historical interpretation.

Diffusing educational improvements in a networked improvement community. This literature review will examine recent approaches to diffusing educational innovations, focusing on networked improve communities (NICs). The review will include a brief history of diffusion research in education followed by a more in depth examination of how NICs tackle cognitive, socio-cultural, and organizational factors to implementing new pedagogical approaches, ending with implications for design.

The Reading List

The reading list is updated annually by the faculty. Please see the Program Coordinator for a current copy of the suggested reading.

Additional Guidelines for the Essay

- Identify a topic and state a research problem or question (or set of problems and questions) related to this topic and to the Learning Sciences.
- Discuss the broad importance of the topic. Explain how the literature has informed your topic.
- Synthesize and analyze the important relevant literature on the topic. Where appropriate, draw from a variety of disciplines. Compare and contrast literatures

This synthesis should not be a laundry list, nor should it artificially pose literatures as always fitting together or telling a seamless story. Rather, it should be a revealing and carefully crafted summary of what we know, how we know it, what we don't know, and why we don't know it. This synthesis must discuss and explain how *specific* theories and research address this topic/research problem, and what gaps remain to be addressed.

- Offer informed critiques regarding the quality of the literature, including suggestions for improvements, and offer specific suggestions for future research that would help to move our understanding of this topic forward. These critiques should go beyond what someone unfamiliar with the research would discuss, and beyond what a senior undergraduate student might dispute. Critiques may include identifying as-yet-unfulfilled opportunities for using the methods, concepts, findings, or theories from one body of research to address issues raised in another.
- Attempt to adjudicate where appropriate and evaluate the validity of conflicting perspectives and claims. Where such competing claims cross, or occur within disciplines, the student should discuss differences that arise from the different approaches.
- Make an argument that is derived from the analysis of the literature. The argument should take a firm stance on (1) the state of knowledge on the research topic, (2) what questions have not been answered, and (3) how we might be able to credibly answer them. This argument should not be made only at the end of the paper, but rather be built throughout the review of the literature in the way the literature is organized, critiqued, and discussed.

4.2 Second Year Research Presentation and Paper

As part of the qualifying process, students are required to conduct a research project that they write up and present publicly.

As part of this research, a student must formulate a question or hypothesis and pursue it using an appropriate research methodology. The paper and presentation should ground the research in the existing literature, describe and justify the research design, present the findings, and describe limitations and next steps. In the presentation and the paper, students will be evaluated on the quality of the research and on the clarity, coherence, and organization of their communication.

The presentation is a 20-minute presentation to the Learning Sciences community modeled on a conference presentation. The model for the paper is a journal submission.

It should be written in accordance with APA guidelines and no more than 30 double-spaced pages in length (excluding references). As many faculty as are able will attend the presentations and participate in their evaluation.

The paper is due and the presentation takes place in the fall after the summer of the second year. The paper due date and presentation schedule will be announced at the beginning of the summer quarter. Two faculty members, including the student's primary advisor, will evaluate each paper. The faculty readers will be selected by the Program Coordinator in consultation with the advisor and student. Upon completion of the research presentation and paper the student should complete the qualifying exam form in GSTS https://gsts.northwestern.edu/.

4.3 Dissertation Proposal and Proposal Defense

The dissertation proposal is a document that describes and justifies a plan for a research project to be completed by the student. This research project will be the basis for the PhD dissertation. The proposal must lay out a line of research that will make a substantial contribution to an important area of the Learning Sciences. It must explain how the research builds on prior work in the field and describe the plan of research in sufficient detail to allow a faculty committee to determine if the work is designed appropriately to meet its goals, and if its results will represent a sufficient contribution to the Learning Sciences to merit a doctorate from Northwestern's Learning Sciences Program.

The dissertation proposal is reviewed by a dissertation committee. The dissertation committee is chaired by the student's advisor. At least two of the members on a student's dissertation committee must be LS professors. The remaining requirements for the composition of a committee is specified on The Graduate School website.

When the dissertation committee feels the student is ready, a proposal defense is scheduled. The scheduling of this defense should be done in consultation with the advisor and the committee. Details of the scheduling should be provided to the SESP Doctoral Student Affairs Program Assistant.

Note: The composition of committee and schedule of the defense must stay in line with requirements outlined on The Graduate School website.

The Proposal Defense

There is no set format for the proposal defense. However, historically, defenses have followed something like the following format: (1) The candidate is asked to leave the room, and the committee briefly discusses procedural issues. (2) The candidate returns. Sometimes, at this point, the candidate gives a brief presentation, summarizing the proposal (~15 minutes). (3) There is an extended discussion during which members of the committee raise issues. (4) The candidate is again asked to leave the room and the committee deliberates to reach a final decision.

The proposal defense is, more than anything else, a working meeting. The point is not to grill the candidate. Instead, the committee works with the candidate to ensure that there is a plan for a viable thesis.

Outcome

At the conclusion of a proposal defense, a student may pass or may be required to revise the proposal document and/or defend it again.

Once a student has passed the proposal defense and completed the other requirements for candidacy, he or she is admitted to candidacy. Again, students are responsible for knowing the <u>requirements for candidacy</u> and for obtaining any necessary paperwork for scheduling a defense from The Graduate School. Students should be aware that what we call the "Proposal Defense" within the Learning Sciences Program is called the "Prospectus" by The Graduate School. Students should complete the "Prospectus" form in GSTS <u>https://gsts.northwestern.edu/</u> upon completion of this milestone.

5. Endgame: PhD Dissertation and Defense

The PhD dissertation is the culmination of a graduate career. A dissertation represents a substantial piece of work that makes a contribution to the field of Learning Sciences. The dissertation is submitted to the student's dissertation committee for review.

5.1 The Pre-Defense

It is up to the committee to determine when the dissertation is ready to be defended. In the past this was handled somewhat informally. More recently, an additional step has been added, what has come to be called the "pre-defense." As of the time of this writing, the pre-defense is not officially required. But it has become the norm.

The purpose of the pre-defense is for the committee to convene to determine whether the candidate is ready for the public defense. Prior to the defense, a complete draft of the dissertation is distributed to the committee. Then the committee and candidate meet to discuss the draft.

There is no set format for the pre-defense. But it typically follows a format much like a proposal defense: (1) The candidate is asked to leave the room, and the committee briefly discusses procedural issues. (2) The candidate returns. Sometimes, at this point, the candidate gives a brief presentation, summarizing the proposal (~15 minutes). (3) There is an extended discussion during which members of the committee raise issues. (4) The candidate is again asked to leave the room and the committee deliberates to reach a final decision.

Once the committee has determined that the dissertation is ready to be defended, the student can schedule a dissertation defense.

5.2 Scheduling and Preparation

Graduate students must consult with the SESP Doctoral Student Affairs Program Assistant in scheduling the defense to make sure it does not conflict with any major holidays or SESP events. Once it is scheduled, the Program Assistant adds it to the SESP calendar and gives advance notice to the LS academic faculty.

The PhD defense time and date must be announced 2 weeks in advance to all LS faculty, postdocs, and PhD students via email. The student should send all the information (date, time, location, title, committee members, and abstract) to the SESP Doctoral Student Affairs Program <u>Assistant</u> before this 2-week deadline. The Program Assistant will send the notification. The Program Assistant will also send an advance notification and a reminder 2-3 days in advance.

An electronic copy of the dissertation must be given to the SESP Doctoral Student Affairs **Program Assistant** at least 2 weeks before the defense so that all interested faculty may read it in advance.

The defense itself consists of a public presentation followed by private discussions.

5.3 Public Presentation

The primary audience for the defense presentation is the LS faculty. Other members of the LS community (students, postdocs, and other researchers) are invited to attend the defense presentation as observers. Only faculty members and members of the students' dissertation committee are invited to ask questions or comment at the defense presentation.

The defense presentation consists of:

- A 45 minute presentation that presents and defends the findings of the dissertation. Students should be careful to allocate sufficient time to present their findings. Questions during this time will be limited to clarification questions.
- A 15-20 minute question-and-answer session between faculty and committee members and the student.

A faculty member who is not a member of the student's committee will serve as the chair of the defense presentation. The chair will keep time and serve as moderator for questions.

At the conclusion of the public presentation, the observers leave the room.

5.4 Private Discussion

If any faculty member requests it, there may be an additional question-and-answer session with the student after the outside observers leave. This session is limited to 15-20 minutes. Following this private q-and-a, there is a private discussion among the faculty and the student's dissertation committee without the student in the room. This discussion provides an opportunity for the faculty to provide their feedback on the defense and/or the dissertation to the dissertation committee. There is no predetermined time limit for this discussion.

Following this discussion, the student is invited to return to the room for a discussion of the dissertation with the dissertation committee and any faculty who choose to attend.

There is no predetermined time limit for this discussion.

5.5 Outcome

At the conclusion of the discussion, the student leaves the room for a period during which the committee makes a decision about the outcome of the defense.

A student may pass the defense with no conditions, or may be asked to revise the dissertation, repeat the defense presentation, repeat the discussion, or some combination of these or other conditions that the committee feels are appropriate.

5.6 Submission of the Dissertation

Once the dissertation has been approved by the committee, the student prepares the dissertation for submission. Students should obtain guidelines for submission from The Graduate School and be aware of all deadlines for submission.

The student must fill out the form entitled "TGS Final Exam" and receive signatures from all dissertation committee members. This form is available on <u>https://gsts.northwestern.edu/</u> it should be submitted to the Program Assistant.

6. Financial Support

All PhD students in the Learning Sciences Program are guaranteed funding for five academic years (9 months per year) in addition to funding for four summers (3 months per year), contingent on their making satisfactory progress toward the PhD. This funding includes tuition and stipend.

For the most part, the amount of school year stipends is the same, regardless of their source, and is based on a level established by The Graduate School and the School of Education and Social Policy.

There are several sources of student fellowships that have different conditions. These are described in general below, but students are responsible for investigating and understanding the details of their funding.

6.1 University Fellowships

University Fellowships (UF's) are awarded and funded by The Graduate School. Nearly all first year LS students are supported by University Fellowships. UF's are provided by The Graduate School as part of their support for the program. A student who is being funded on a University Fellowship must be in good academic standing and is not permitted to engage in outside work for income. Students awarded a UF receive a letter from The Graduate School describing the requirements and conditions associated with that funding. Any questions regarding these requirements and conditions should be addressed to the Program Coordinator or The Graduate School.

Three-month summer UF's are available for students who are being supported by a TA-ship during the year, or for students who have no other sources of funding for the summer months. A student must apply during the spring quarter for a summer UF.

First year University Fellowships include an automatic 3-month summer fellowship. In many cases, students are able to supplement a summer UF with other funding, such as a partial Research Assistantship (RA). First year students should contact their advisor about the possibility of supplementary summer funding. If the advisor is unable to provide supplementary funding, the student should contact the Program Coordinator, who may be able to locate a source of supplementary funding.

6.2 Research Assistantships

Research assistantships are awarded to students who assist faculty members on research projects either at the university or in the field while continuing the University's academic mission and their own academic development and training.

Requirements:

If the assistantship is funded through a sponsored agreement, then the graduate student must be conducting activities necessary to the sponsored agreement.

The work performed as a research assistant is not only part of the faculty member's research project, but also supports the student's dissertation research (or preparation for that research) while satisfying a degree requirement.

Students pursuing their Research Assistantship also need to review the Regulations Governing Recipients of University Assistance.

TGS recommends guidelines for relationships between faculty and their RAs. <u>See best practices</u> for graduate Research Assistants (RAs).

6.3 Teaching Assistantships

A Teaching Assistant (TA) fellowship is provided to a graduate student in exchange for assisting an instructor with teaching a course. Like an RA, a TA requires specific work.

A student funded as a TA should clarify what his or her responsibilities are with the instructor. Typically it involves helping to plan the course, facilitating course organization and communication with students, preparing materials for the class, grading and providing feedback to students, and assisting with in-class instruction. Students funded on a TA fellowship are required to TA one course per quarter while they are on the fellowship.

TA fellowships are awarded by SESP and funded by The Graduate School. Students should check with The Graduate School for requirements and conditions associated with TA fellowships.

6.4 Other Fellowships

Additional fellowship opportunities are available from both university and outside sources. These include both Research and Dissertation Year Fellowships. A Research Fellowship is typically awarded by an outside organization to a student directly, based on a program of research he or she proposes. While outside research fellowships are awarded directly to students, they are typically administered by The Graduate School, meaning the money is given to The Graduate School, who pays the tuition and stipend from that award. The Graduate School also offers internally funded research fellowships to students engaged in field research. Even though all PhD students are guaranteed five years of funding by the program, they are encouraged to seek research fellowships because of the prestige and the flexibility they bring to the student. Dissertation Year Fellowships are awarded to students to support their final year in the program. The goal is to support students in writing up their dissertation. Usually, Dissertation Year Fellowships require that a student has completed the bulk of their research and typically ask for a letter from the advisor indicating that the student is expected to complete all the degree requirements during the funded period. Dissertation Year Fellowships are designed to free students from other concerns in order to focus on completing the dissertation. The Graduate School offers several different Dissertation Year Fellowships, as do outside organizations, such as the Spencer Foundation.

7. Additional Requirements

7.1 Participation in Community Activities

The Learning Sciences Community

The Learning Sciences Program at Northwestern is a learning community made up of graduate students, research scientists, post-doctoral fellows, undergraduates, and professional staff. The PhD students play an important role in this community. The LS community is enriched by their presence, and the grad students' education is enriched by participation in the community. To maintain the health of that community, the faculty have the following expectations of all PhD students:

- Students will be present in Annenberg Hall as much as possible during working hours throughout the school year and the summer.
- Students will attend and actively participate in all public events sponsored by the Learning Sciences Program and SESP, including brown bags, colloquia, job talks, and dissertation defenses.
- Students will participate in public events sponsored by the other programs associated with the school (e.g., HDSP, IPR, MPES, CLOC), the Cognitive Science Program, or other units on campus that are relevant to their particular interests and research.
- Students who have personal or family reasons for exceptions to these expectations should consult with their advisors.
- There is a strong expectation of participation in the community with the goal of fostering an environment conducive to effective and innovative research programs.

The Broader Research Community

As part of their career development, PhD students should participate in the broader research community by attending and presenting at research meetings (conferences and workshops), publishing papers, participating in the organization of meetings, and reviewing for publications and conferences. Students should consult with their advisors and faculty about an appropriate plan for them to participate in the broader research community, including understanding which conferences, workshops, and publications are appropriate for their research interests and career goals.

To encourage students to attend research meetings, the School of Education and Social Policy offers \$400 per year to each student to attend the conference of his or her choice. Students should work with the Doctoral student affairs team to book conference registrations and travel.

In addition, The Graduate School offers travel support for students who are presenting at a conference, and this support can be used to supplement the SESP support. For information on this travel support, check the Conference Travel Grant page on The Graduate School website.

7.2 Teaching

To support their professional development, all LS PhD students are required to serve as a teaching assistant (TA) for at least two courses during their graduate career. As part of this apprenticeship, students should expect to be involved in all aspects of the planning,

management, and assessment in collaboration with the professor. In their second teaching assistantship, students can expect to be responsible for teaching at least one class session or week of the course.

Students may have the opportunity to TA beyond their requirement, and if so, will be paid an honorarium of \$2,000; this opportunity must be cleared with the student's advisor and the Program Coordinator. Note, though, that students whose source of support is a graduate school TA-ship are not eligible for this supplement. Additionally, some sources of fellowship funding do not allow students to receive any supplementary funding.

7.3 Annual Performance Review

Every spring quarter, each student is required to submit an annual progress report describing the progress that student has made during the past year and the student's goals for the coming year. The faculty review these reports and other evidence of students' progress, including coursework, research activities, publications, presentations, and other professional activities. Following this review, each student receives a letter with feedback from the faculty about the student's progress and suggestions for the coming year. Students whom the faculty feel are not making satisfactory progress will be notified of this as part of this review process.

Note: Late submission of the annual progress report is frowned upon and discussed as part of the performance review procedures.

7.4 LS Policy on Residency at Northwestern

Summer Residence

The summer quarter is part of the academic year for PhD students in the Learning Sciences. Students are expected to be engaged in research and scholarship full-time during the summer. Except for students participating in field work or internships that require them to be elsewhere, students are expected to be present on campus during working hours throughout the summer. Eligibility for summer funding is contingent on residency. However, students are entitled to time off for vacation time during the summer. The length and timing of that vacation should be set in consultation with your advisor.

Leaving Northwestern Prior to Completion of Degree

In recent years, LS PhD students have occasionally requested permission to leave the Chicago area before completing the requirements for the degree and to continue working on their degrees from remote locations. These departures typically happen for one of two reasons. Either the student has a personal reason to be away from Evanston for extended periods of time or the student accepts a job before they have completed their degree.

This is a matter of serious concern for the faculty. We understand the competing pressures in students' lives and recognize their need to make decisions that balance those pressures according to their personal priorities. However, the faculty believe these absences carry significant costs for the students' career development. It is our experience that students who leave take longer to complete their degrees, have a much higher likelihood of never completing their degrees, and tend to produce lower quality dissertations. Students who leave early lose the opportunity for informal exchange with faculty and other students, miss opportunities to attend talks and meet with visitors, and lose the chance to gain valuable experience mentoring more junior students. The faculty and university make substantial investments of time and resources in graduate student

education. We feel a great loss when students do not complete their degrees, and we are disappointed when students do not work at the level of their potential.

In addition, the absence of senior graduate students comes at a substantial cost to the LS community. The faculty believe that the ongoing success of the Learning Sciences Program depends on our maintaining an active, vibrant community in Annenberg Hall, so the departure of senior graduate students is a serious concern for us.

Note: This concern does not apply to students who must take a temporary leave from the program for medical or personal reasons. This applies to students who are active in the program but are requesting to be absent from campus for extended periods of time.

7.5 Academic Integrity

The Learning Sciences PhD program adheres to and endorses The Graduate School at Northwestern University's policies on academic integrity.TGS policies state:

Academic integrity is fundamental to every facet of the scholarly process and is expected of every student in The Graduate School (TGS) in all academic undertakings. Integrity involves firm adherence to academic honesty and to ethical conduct consistent with values based on standards that respect the intellectual efforts of both oneself and others. Ensuring integrity in academic work is a joint enterprise involving both faculty and students. Among the most important goals of graduate education are maintaining an environment of academic integrity and instilling in students a lifelong commitment to the academic honesty that is fundamental to good scholarship. These goals are best achieved as a result of effective dialogue between students and faculty mentors regarding academic integrity and by the examples of members of the academic community whose intellectual accomplishments demonstrate sensitivity to the nuances of ethical conduct in scholarly work.

Standards of academic integrity are violated when a student engages in actions including:

- cheating in the classroom or on examinations, including master's final examinations and Ph.D. qualifying examinations;
- the intentional and deliberate misuse of data in order to draw conclusions that may not be warranted by the evidence;
- fabrication of data;
- omission or concealment of conflicting data for the purpose of misleading other scholars;
- use of another's words, ideas, or creative productions without citation in either the text or in footnotes;
- paraphrasing or summarizing another's material in such a way as to misrepresent the author's intentions;
- and use of privileged material or unpublished work without permission.

In cases for which violations of academic integrity is expected or evidence is found, the program will enact procedures to pursue those cases through the School of Education and Social Policy under the guidance of the Dean, Coordinator, and faculty, as well as through The Graduate School as appropriate. TGS's Dishonesty Procedures can be found on the website.

8. Nondiscrimination Statement

Northwestern University does not discriminate or permit discrimination by any member of its community against any individual on the basis of race, color, religion, national origin, sex, pregnancy, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender expression, parental status, marital status, age, disability, citizenship status, veteran status, genetic information, reproductive health decision making, or any other classification protected by law in matters of admissions, employment, housing, or services or in the educational programs or activities it operates. Harassment, whether verbal, physical, or visual, that is based on any of these characteristics is a form of discrimination. Further prohibited by law is discrimination against any employee and/or job applicant who chooses to inquire about, discuss, or disclose their own compensation or the compensation of another employee or applicant.

Northwestern University complies with federal and state laws that prohibit discrimination based on the protected categories listed above, including Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972. Title IX requires educational institutions, such as Northwestern, to prohibit discrimination based on sex (including sexual harassment) in the University's educational programs and activities, including in matters of employment and admissions. In addition, Northwestern provides reasonable accommodations to qualified applicants, students, and employees with disabilities and to individuals who are pregnant.

Any alleged violations of this policy or questions with respect to nondiscrimination or reasonable accommodations should be directed to Northwestern's Office of Equity, 1800 Sherman Avenue, Suite 4-500, Evanston, Illinois 60208, 847-467-6165, equity@northwestern.edu.

Questions specific to sex discrimination (including sexual misconduct and sexual harassment) should be directed to Northwestern's Title IX Coordinator in the Office of Equity, 1800 Sherman Avenue, Suite 4-500, Evanston, Illinois 60208, 847-467-6165, TitleIXCoordinator@northwestern.edu.

A person may also file a complaint with the Department of Education's Office for Civil Rights regarding an alleged violation of Title IX by visiting www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/complaintintro.html or calling 800-421-3481. Inquiries about the application of Title IX to Northwestern may be referred to Northwestern's Title IX Coordinator, the United States Department of Education's Assistant Secretary for Civil Rights, or both.